

Date: 25 January 2021 Our Ref: P21006

Ms Stephanie Graham 13 Cumberland Ave, Collaroy NSW 2097

Dear Stephanie,

RE: 13 Cumberland Ave, Collaroy DESIGN COMPLIANCE ASSESSMENT

Please find enclosed our BCA Design Compliance Report prepared in respect of the proposed design contained within the architectural documentation provided.

In reviewing the content of this Report, particular attention is drawn to the content of Parts 3 and 4 as: –

- Part 3 summarizes the compliance status of the proposed design in terms of each prescriptive provision of the BCA.
 - The inclusion of this summary enables an immediate understanding of the compliance status of the proposed design to be obtained.
- Part 4 contains a detailed analysis of the proposed design, and provides informative commentary & recommendation in respect of each instance of prescriptive non-compliance and area of insufficient (design) detail, as applicable.

This commentary enables the project team to readily identify and understand the nature and extent of information required within the Building Permit (or other) application to demonstrate the attainment of BCA compliance.

Should you require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact me on the number provided.

Yours faithfully

Kieran Tobin Director

DESIGN COMPLIANCE ASSESSMENT

PREPARED FOR

Ms Stephanie Graham

REGARDING

13 Cumberland Ave, Collaroy

Prepared By



REPORT REGISTER

The following report register documents the development and issue of this report and project as undertaken by this office, in accordance with the *Quality Assurance* policy of BCA Vision Pty Ltd.

Our Reference	Issue No.	Remarks	Issue Date
P21006	1	Design Compliance Assessment	25 January 2021

The format, technical content and intellectual property associated with this report remain the property of BCA Vision Pty Limited, and has been prepared and may only be used, for the development / buildings the subject of this report.

CONTENTS PAGE

1.0	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	General1
1.2	Report Basis1
1.3	Exclusions1
1.4	Report Purpose1
2.0	BUILDING DESCRIPTION3
2.1	General3
2.2	Rise in Storeys (Clause C1.2)3
2.3	Building Classification (Clause A3.2)3
2.4	Effective Height3
2.5	Type of Construction (Table C1.1)3
3.0	BCA ASSESSMENT – SUMMARY5
3.1.	General5
3.2.	Section C – Fire resistance5
3.3.	Section D – Access and Egress6
3.4.	Section E – Services and Equipment7
3.5.	Section F – Health and Amenity8
4.0	BCA ASSESSMENT - DETAILED ANALYSIS1
4.1	General1
4.2	SECTION C – FIRE RESISTANCE
4.4	SECTION D – ACCESS AND EGRESS
4.5	SECTION E – SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT9
4.6	SECTION F – HEALTH AND AMENITY12

1.0 Introduction

1.1 GENERAL

This "BCA Compliance Assessment" report has been prepared at the request Ms Stephanie Graham, and relates to 13 Cumberland Ave, Collaroy

The project proposal is for alteration and change of building classification within the existing building.

The building is a three storey masonry structure with concrete floors and a tile roof. The building was originally approved as a class 1a dwelling but contains a separate kitchen within the lower ground floor.

The owners wish to retain the current kitchen facility and in this regard are seeking approval from Council for the premises to be considered as a class 2 structure containing a dwelling within the ground and first floor and an additional dwelling within the lower ground floor.

This report is based upon, and limited to, the information depicted in the documentation provided for assessment, and does not make assumptions regarding "design intention" or the like.

1.2 REPORT BASIS

The content of this report reflects –

- (a) The principles and provisions of BCA 2019 (Volume 1, amendment 1) Parts C, D, E & F;
- (b) Architectural plans prepared by Drafts by Gibson and dated 27/11/19

1.3 EXCLUSIONS

It is conveyed that this report should not construed to infer that an assessment for compliance with the following has been undertaken –

- (a) Structural and services design documentation;
- (b) General building services (i.e. passenger lifts);
- (c) The individual requirements of service providers (i.e. Telstra, Water Supply, Energy Australia);
- (d) The individual requirements of the Workcover Authority;
- (e) Disability Discrimination Act (DDA).

1.4 REPORT PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to identify the extent to which the architectural design documentation complies with the relevant prescriptive provisions of the BCA 2019, (Volume 1, amendment 1) Parts C, D, E & F.

Assessment of the proposed design considers each prescriptive BCA provision, and identifies such as either: –

- (a) Being complied with; or
- (b) Not being complied with; or
- (c) Requiring the provision further detail with the future Building Permit or other application or
- (d) Not being relevant to the particular building works proposal.

The status of the design, in terms of these four (4) categories, is summarised within Part 3 of this report.

Where prescriptive non-compliance is identified, suitable recommendations to remedy the non-compliance shall be detailed in Part 4.

In instances where insufficient detail exists, summary of the information required from the project team for inclusion within future applications (i.e. Building Permit) shall also be outlined in Part 4.

2.0 BUILDING DESCRIPTION

2.1 GENERAL

In the context of the Building Code of Australia (BCA), the subject development is described within items 2.2 - 2.6 below.

2.2 RISE IN STOREYS (CLAUSE C1.2)

The building has a proposed rise in storeys of Three (3).

2.3 BUILDING CLASSIFICATION (CLAUSE A3.2)

The entire building incorporates the following classifications: -

Class 2 A Residential Unit building,

2.4 EFFECTIVE HEIGHT

The building has an effective height Not exceeding 12 metres.

2.5 Type of Construction (Table C1.1) Table 4 Type A CONSTRUCTION: FRL OF BUILDING ELEMENTS

External walls, common walls flooring and floor framing of lift pits must be non-combustible.

Any internal wall having an FRL must extend to –

- (i) the underside of the floor above; or
- (ii) the underside of a complying roof; or
- (iii) if the roof is not required to comply, the underside of the non-combustible roof covering and must not be crossed by combustible building elements (except 75 x 50 mm roof battens); or
- (iv) a ceiling immediately below the roof having a resistance to the incipient spread of fire to the roof space of not less than 60 minutes.

A loadbearing internal wall and fire wall (including part of a loadbearing shaft) must be of concrete or masonry.

Non-loadbearing fire-resisting internal walls, fire and non-fire rated lift, ventilating, pipe, garbage, or similar shaft not for the discharge of hot products of combustion, must be of non-combustible construction.

External column FRL's apply to any internal columns that face and are within 1.5 m of a window and are exposed through that window to a fire-source feature.

- 2.4 Attachments not to impair fire-resistance
- (a) A combustible material may be used as a finish or lining to a wall or roof, or in a sign, sunscreen or blind, awning, or other attachment to a building element which has the required FRL if—
- (i) the material is exempted under C1.10 or complies with the fire hazard properties prescribed in Specification C1.10; and
- (ii) it is not located near or directly above a required exit so as to make the exit unusable in a fire; and
- (iii) it does not otherwise constitute an undue risk of fire spread via the facade of the building.
- (b) The attachment of a facing or finish, or the installation of ducting or any other service, to a part of a building required to have an FRL must not impair the required FRL of that par

Table 3 TYPE A CONSTRUCTION: FRL OF BUILDING ELEMENTS

Building element	-		— FRL: (in mi	nutes)
	St	ructural adequa	cy/ Integrity/ Ins	ulation
	2, 3 or 4 part	5, 7a or 9	6	7b or 8
EXTERNAL WALL (including ar other external building element, wh exposed is—				
For <i>loadbearing</i> parts—				
less than 1.5 m	90/ 90/ 90	120/120/120	180/180/180	240/240/240
1.5 to less than 3 m	90/60/60	120/90/90	180/180/120	240/240/180
3 m or more	90/60/30	120/60/30	180/120/ 90	240/180/90
For non- loadbearing parts—				
less than 1.5 m	-/ 90/ 90	-/120/120	-/180/180	-/240/240
1.5 to less than 3 m	-/ 60/ 60	-/ 90/ 90	-/180/120	-/240/180
3 m or more	_/_/_	_/_/_	_/_/_	_/_/_
EXTERNAL COLUMN not incor	porated in an	external wall—		
For <i>loadbearing</i> columns—				
	90/-/-	120/–/–	180//-	240/-/-
For non- <i>loadbearing</i> columns—		,		
	//_	_/_/_	_/_/_	_/_/_
COMMON WALLS and FIRE WALLS—	90/ 90/ 90	120/120/120	180/180/180	240/240/240
INTERNAL WALLS—		,		
Fire-resisting lift and stair shafts—				
Loadbearing	90/ 90/ 90	120/120/120	180/120/120	240/120/120
Non- loadbearing	-/ 90/ 90	-/120/120	-/120/120	-/120/120
Bounding <i>public corridors</i> , public 1	obbies and th	e like—		
Loadbearing	90/ 90/ 90	120/–/–	180//-	240/-/-
Non- loadbearing	-/ 60/ 60	_/_/_	_/_/_	_/_/_
Between or bounding sole-occupan	cy units—			
Loadbearing	90/ 90/ 90	120/–/–	180//-	240/-/-
Non- loadbearing	-/ 60/ 60	_/_/_	_/_/_	_/_/_
Ventilating, pipe, garbage, and like combustion—	shafts not us	ed for the dischar	rge of hot produc	ts of
Loadbearing	90/ 90/ 90	120/90/90	180/120/120	240/120/120
Non- loadbearing	-/ 90/ 90	-/ 90/ 90	-/120/120	-/120/120
OTHER LOADBEARING INTE	RNAL WAL	LS, INTERNA	L BEAMS, TRU	ISSES
and COLUMNS—	90/–/–	120/-/-	180//-	240/-/-
FLOORS	90/ 90/ 90	120/120/120	180/180/180	240/240/240
ROOFS	90/60/30	120/60/30	180/60/30	240/90/60

3.0 BCA ASSESSMENT – SUMMARY

3.1. GENERAL

The tables contained within items 3.2 - 3.6 below summarise the compliance status of the proposed architectural design in terms of each prescriptive provision of the Building Code of Australia.

For those instances of either "prescriptive non-compliance" or "insufficient detail", a detailed analysis and commentary is provided within Part 4.

3.2. SECTION C – FIRE RESISTANCE

BCA reference	Complies	Does not comply	Detail required	Not relevant
Spec. C1.1 – fire resisting construction			✓	
C1.3 – buildings of multiple classification				✓
C1.4 – mixed types of construction				✓
C1.5 – two storey Class 2 or 3 buildings				✓
C1.6 – Class 4 parts of a building				✓
C1.7 – open spectator stands & indoor sports stadiums				✓
C1.8 – lightweight construction				✓
C1.9 – non-combustible materials			✓	
C1.10 – fire hazard properties	✓			
C1.11 – performance of external walls				✓
C2.2 – general floor area & volume limits				✓
C2.3 – large isolated buildings				✓
C2.4 – requirements for open spaces & vehicular access				✓
C2.5 – Class 9a and 9c buildings				✓
C2.6 – vertical separation of openings in external walls	✓			
C2.7 – separation of firewalls				✓
C2.8 – separation of classifications in same storey				✓
C2.9 – separation of classifications in different storeys				✓
C2.10 – separation of lift shafts				✓
C2.11 – stairways and lifts in one shaft				✓
C2.12 – separation of equipment				✓
C2.13 – electricity supply system				✓
C2.14 – public corridors in Class 2 and 3 buildings				✓
C3.2 – openings in external walls			✓	
C3.3 – separation of external walls & associated openings				✓
C3.4 – acceptable methods of protection			✓	
C3.5 – doorways in firewalls				✓
C3.6 – sliding fire doors				✓
C3.7 – doorways in horizontal exits				✓
C3.8 – openings in fire-isolated exits				✓
C3.9 – service penetrations in fire-isolated exits				✓
C3.10 – openings in fire-isolated lift shafts				✓
C3.11 – bounding construction: Class 2, 3, 4 and 9 buildings			✓	
C3.12 – openings in floors & ceilings for services			✓	
C3.13 – openings in shafts			✓	
C3.15 – openings for service installations			✓	
C3.16 – construction joints	✓			
C3.17 – columns protected with f/r lightweight construction				✓

3.3. SECTION D – ACCESS AND EGRESS

BCA reference	Complies	Does not comply	Detail required	Not relevant
D1.2 – number of exits required	✓			
D1.3 – when fire-isolated exits are required				√
D1.4 – exit travel distances				✓
D1.5 – distance between alternative exits				✓
D1.6 – dimensions of exits and paths of travel to exits	✓			
D1.7 – travel via fire-isolated exits				✓
D1.8 – external stairways or ramps in lieu of fire-isolated exits				✓
D1.9 – travel via non-fire isolated stairways or ramps				✓
D1.10 – discharge from exits	✓			
D1.11 – horizontal exits				✓
D1.12 – non-required stairways or ramps				✓
D1.13 – number of persons accommodated				✓
D1.16 – plant rooms and lift motor rooms: concession				✓
D1.17 – access to lift pits				✓
D2.2 – fire-isolated stairways and ramps				✓
D2.3 – non-fire isolated stairways and ramps				✓
D2.4 – separation of rising and descending stair flights				✓
D2.5 – open access ramps and balconies				✓
D2.6 – smoke lobbies				✓
D2.7 – installations in exits and paths of travel				✓
D2.8 – enclosure of space under stairs and ramps				✓
D2.9 – width of stairways				✓
D2.10 – pedestrian ramps				✓
D2.11 – fire-isolated passageways				✓
D2.12 – roof as open space				✓
D2.13 – goings and risers	✓			
D2.14 – landings	✓			
D2.15 – thresholds	✓			
D2.16 – balustrades				✓
D2.17 – handrails			✓	
D2.18 – fixed platforms, walkways, stairways and ladders				✓
D2.19 – doorways and doors				✓
D2.20 – swinging doors				✓
D2.21 – operation of latch				✓
D2.22 – re-entry from fire-isolated exits				✓
D2.23 – signs on doors				✓
D2.24 – Protection of Openable Windows			✓	

3.4. SECTION E – SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT

BCA reference	Complies	Does not comply	Detail required	Not relevant
E1.3 – fire hydrants				✓
E1.4 – fire hose reels				✓
E1.5 – sprinklers				✓
E1.6 – portable fire extinguishers			\	
E1.8 – fire control centres				✓
E1.9 – fire precautions during construction				✓
E1.10 – provision for special hazards				✓
E2.2a – general provisions			✓	
E2.2b – specific provisions				✓
E2.3 – provision for special hazards				✓
E3.2 – stretcher facility in lifts				✓
E3.3 – warning against use of lifts in fire				✓
E3.4 – emergency lifts				✓
E3.5 – landings				✓
E3.6 – facilities for people with disabilities				✓
E3.7 – fire service controls				✓
E3.8 – aged care buildings				✓
E3.9 – fire service recall switch				✓
E3.10 – fire service drive control switch				✓
E4.2 – emergency lighting				✓
E4.4 – design and operation of emergency lighting				✓
E4.5 – exit signs				✓
E4.6 – direction signs				✓
E4.7 – Class 2 and 3 buildings and Class 4 parts: exemptions				✓
E4.8 – design and operation of exit signs				✓
E4.9 – emergency warning and intercommunication systems				✓

3.5. SECTION F – HEALTH AND AMENITY

BCA reference	Complies	Does not comply	Detail required	Not relevant
F1.1 – stormwater drainage				√ *
F1.5 – roof coverings				√ ∗
F1.6 – sarking				√ ∗
F1.7 – water proofing of wet areas				√ ∗
F1.9 – damp proofing				√ *
F1.10 – damp proofing of floors on ground				√ ∗
F1.11 – floor wastes	✓			
F1.12 – sub-floor ventilation				✓
F1.13 – glazed assemblies				√ *
F2.1 – facilities in residential buildings	✓			
F2.3 – facilities in Class 3 to 9 buildings				✓
F2.4 – facilities for people with disabilities				✓
F2.5 – construction of sanitary compartments	✓			
F2.7 – microbial (legionella) control				✓
F2.8 – waste management				✓
F3.1 – height of rooms			✓	
F4.1 – provision of natural light	✓			
F4.2 – methods and extent of natural lighting	✓			
F4.3 – natural lighting borrowed from adjoining room				✓
F4.4 – artificial lighting	✓			
F4.5 – ventilation of rooms	✓			
F4.6 – natural ventilation	✓			
F4.7 – ventilation borrowed from an adjoining room				✓
F4.8 – restriction on position of water closets and urinals	✓			
F4.9 – airlocks	✓			
F4.11 – car parks				✓
F4.12 – kitchen local exhaust ventilation				✓
F5.2 – sound transmission class: interpretation			✓	
F5.3 – sound transmission of floors between units			✓	
F5.4 – sound insulation of walls between units				✓
F5.5 – sound insulation rating of walls				✓
F5.6 – sound insulation rating of services				✓
F5.7 – sound insulation of pumps				✓
✓* = Existing building element unchanged by the propo-	sal and not po	ssible to ins	pect post co	nstruction

4.0 BCA ASSESSMENT – DETAILED ANALYSIS

4.1 GENERAL

With reference to the "BCA Assessment Summary" contained within Part 3 above, the following detailed analysis and commentary is provided.

This commentary is formulated to enable the design documentation to be further progressed, for the purpose of evidencing the attainment of compliance with the relevant provisions of the BCA.

In our opinion compliance with the Building Code of Australia 2019 Volume 1 (amendment 1)Parts C, D, E & F can be achieved subject to the implementation of the following details into the Construction documentation.

4.2 SECTION C – FIRE RESISTANCE

CLAUSE	CLAUSE REQUIREMENT	ACTION/RECOMENDATION
Cl. C1.1	 Type of construction required (a) The minimum Type of <i>fire-resisting construction</i> of a building must be that specified in Table C1.1 and Specification C1.1, (b) Type A construction is the most fire-resistant and Type C the least fire-resistant of the Types of construction. 	Generally the building construction must achieve the minimum FRL requirements specified within clause 2.3 (page 3, 4 & 5) of this report for Type A Construction. The building currently has compliant elements as follows:- Masonry external walls Concrete slab separation between the lower ground floor and first floor However a section of wall to the rear most bedroom was identified as lightweight

		construction and requires alteration to achieve an FRL of 90/60/30 from both sides (internally and externally. We would recommend lining the wall in a fire rated plasterboard system The system must be installed in exact accordance with the product specification
Cl. C1.9	Non-combustible building elements (a) In a building required to be of Type A or B construction, the following building elements and their components must be non-combustible: (i) External walls and common walls, including all components incorporated in them including the facade covering, framing and insulation. (ii) The flooring and floor framing of lift pits. (iii) Non-loadbearing internal walls where they are required to be fire-resisting. (b) A shaft, being a lift, ventilating, pipe, garbage, or similar shaft that is not for the discharge of hot products of combustion, that is non-loadbearing, must be of non-combustible construction in— (i) a building required to be of Type A construction; and (ii) a building required to be of Type B construction, subject to C2.10, in— (A) a Class 2, 3 or 9 building; and (B) a Class 5, 6, 7 or 8 building if the shaft connects more than 2 storeys. (c) A loadbearing internal wall and a loadbearing fire wall, including those that are part of a loadbearing shaft, must comply with Specification C1.1. (d) The requirements of (a) and (b) do not apply to the following: (i) Gaskets. (ii) Caulking. (iii) Sealants. (iv) Termite management systems. (v) Glass, including laminated glass. (vi) Thermal breaks associated with glazing systems. (vii) Damp-proof courses. (e) The following materials may be used wherever a non-combustible material is required:	Where insulation is provided to the modified wall as detailed above the insulation must be determined noncombustible through an AS 1530.3 fire test certificate (to be obtained from the supplier)

	 (i) Plasterboard. (ii) Perforated gypsum lath with a normal paper finish. (iii) Fibrous-plaster sheet. (iv) Fibre-reinforced cement sheeting. (v) Pre-finished metal sheeting having a combustible surface finish not exceeding 1 mm thickness and where the Spread-of-Flame Index of the product is not greater than 0. (vi) Sarking-type materials that do not exceed 1 mm in thickness and have a Flammability Index not greater than 5. (vii) Bonded laminated materials where— (A) each lamina, including any core, is non-combustible; and (B) each adhesive layer does not exceed 1 mm in thickness and the total thickness of the adhesive layers does not exceed 2 mm; and (C) the Spread-of-Flame Index and the Smoke-Developed Index of the bonded laminated material as a whole do not exceed 0 and 3 respectively. 	
Cl. C3.2	Protection of openings in external walls Openings in an external wall that is required to have an FRL must— (a) if the distance between the opening and the fire-source feature to which it is exposed is less than— (i) 3 m from a side or rear boundary of the allotment; or (ii) 6 m from the far boundary of a road, river, lake or the like adjoining the allotment, if not located in a storey at or near ground level; or (iii) 6 m from another building on the allotment that is not Class 10, be protected in accordance with C3.4 and if wall-wetting sprinklers are used, they are located externally; and (b) if required to be protected under (a), not occupy more than 1/3 of the area of the external wall of the storey in which it is located unless they are in a Class 9b building used as an open spectator stand.	Windows were identified to the North side of the (whole) building which are within 3m of the property boundary fire source feature. Currently these openings are not protected in accordance with Clause C3.4)
Cl. C3.4	Acceptable methods of protection (a) Where protection is required, doorways, windows and other openings must be protected as follows: (i) Doorways—	For Reference Refer to Clause C3.2 comments

(A) internal or external wall-wetting sprinklers as appropriate used with doors that are self-	
closing or automatic closing; or	

- (B) –/60/30 fire doors that are self-closing or automatic closing.
- (ii) Windows—
- (A) internal or external wall-wetting sprinklers as appropriate used with windows that are automatic closing or permanently fixed in the closed position; or
- (B) -/60/- fire windows that are automatic closing or permanently fixed in the closed position; or
- (C) –/60/– automatic closing fire shutters.
- (iii) Other openings—
- (A) excluding voids internal or external wall-wetting sprinklers, as appropriate; or
- (B) construction having an FRL not less than -/60/-.
- (b) Fire doors, fire windows and fire shutters must comply with Specification C3.4.

Cl. C3.11

Bounding construction:

Class 2 and 3 buildings and Class 4 parts

- (a) A doorway in a Class 2 or 3 building must be protected if it provides access from a sole-occupancy unit to—
- (i) a public corridor, public lobby, or the like; or
- (ii) a room not within a sole-occupancy unit; or
- (iii) the landing of an internal non fire-isolated stairway that serves as a required exit; or (iv) another sole-occupancy unit.
- (b) A doorway in a Class 2 or 3 building must be protected if it provides access from a room not within a sole-occupancy unit to—
- (i) a public corridor, public lobby, or the like; or
- (ii) the landing of an internal non fire-isolated stairway that serves as a required exit.
- (c) A doorway in a Class 4 part of a building must be protected if it provides access to any other internal part of the building.
- (d) Protection for a doorway must be at least—
- (i) in a building of Type A construction a self-closing –/60/30 fire door;
- (g) In a Class 2 or 3 building where a path of travel to an exit does not provide a person seeking egress

Item 1 - a Door opening is proposed to be retained between the lower ground floor and Ground Floor

The door and door frame are required to be fire rated in accordance with AS 1905
The door is required to be a -/60/30 self closing fire door

	with a choice of travel in different directions to alternative exits and is along an open balcony, landing or the like and passes an external wall of— (i) another sole-occupancy unit; or (ii) then that external wall must— a room not within a sole-occupancy unit, (iii) be constructed of concrete or masonry, or be lined internally with a fire-protective covering; and (iv) have any doorway fitted with a self-closing, tight-fitting solid core door not less than 35 mm thick; and (v) have any windows or other openings— (A) protected internally in accordance with C3.4; or (B) located at least 1.5 m above the floor of the balcony, landing or the like.	
Cl. C3.12	Service openings through any floors in the building must be either fire sealed or enclosed in a fire rated shaft, using materials having an FRL not less than the floor concerned.	Electrical cables currently penetrate the slab separating the ground floor and lower ground floor
Cl. C3.13	Openings to shafts must be self-closing and 1-hour fire rated (i.e. access panels, doors, hoppers).	These penetrations require protection with
Cl. C3.15	Openings for service installations	an AS 1530 tested system to prove an FRL of 90 minutes.
	Where an electrical, electronic, plumbing, mechanical ventilation, air-conditioning or other service penetrates a building element (other than an <i>external wall</i> or roof) that is <i>required</i> to have an FRL with respect to <i>integrity</i> or <i>insulation</i> or a <i>resistance to the incipient spread of fire</i> , that installation must comply with any one of the following:	Our recommendation would be for a Fire rated mastic system hover it s noted that some penetrations are considered to be large and will require a Fire rated mortar to
	(a) Tested systems	fill and create a tighter fit
	(i) The service, building element and any protection method at the penetration are identical with a prototype assembly of the service, building element and protection method which has been tested in accordance with AS 4072.1 and AS 1530.4 and has achieved the <i>required</i> FRL or <i>resistance to the incipient spread of fire</i> .	
	(ii) It complies with (i) except for the insulation criteria relating to the service if—	
	(A) the service is a pipe system comprised entirely of metal (excluding pipe seals or the like); and	
	(B) any <i>combustible</i> building element is not located within 100 mm of the service for a distance of 2 m from the penetration; and	
	(C) <i>combustible</i> material is not able to be located within 100 mm of the service for a distance of 2 m from the penetration; and	
	(D) it is not located in a required exit.	
	(b) Ventilation and air-conditioning — In the case of ventilating or air-conditioning ducts or	

equipment, the installation is in accordance with AS/NZS 1668.1.

(c) Compliance with Specification C3.15

- (i) The service is a pipe system comprised entirely of metal (excluding pipe seals or the like) and is installed in accordance with Specification C3.15 and it—
 - (A) penetrates a wall, floor or ceiling, but not a ceiling *required* to have a *resistance to the incipient spread of fire*; and
 - (B) connects not more than 2 fire compartments in addition to any fire-resisting service shafts; and
 - (C) does not contain a flammable or *combustible* liquid or gas.
- (ii) The service is sanitary plumbing installed in accordance with Specification C3.15 and it—
 - (A) is of metal or UPVC pipe; and
 - (B) penetrates the floors of a Class 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9b building; and
 - (C) is in a *sanitary compartment* separated from other parts of the building by walls with the FRL *required* by Specification C1.1 for a stair *shaft* in the building and a *self-closing* –/60/30 fire door.
- (iii) The service is a wire or cable, or a cluster of wires or cables installed in accordance with Specification C3.15 and it—
 - (A) penetrates a wall, floor or ceiling, but not a ceiling *required* to have a *resistance to the incipient spread of fire*; and
 - (B) connects not more than 2 fire compartments in addition to any fire-resisting service shafts.
- (iv) The service is an electrical switch, outlet, or the like, and it is installed in accordance with Specification C3.15.

4.4 SECTION D – ACCESS AND EGRESS

CLAUSE	CLAUSE REQUIREMENT	ACTION/RECOMENDATION
Cl. D2.17	Handrails must be provided to at least one side of all stairways and ramps less than 2-metres in width, and to both sides where more than 2-metres in width, and must: — Be continuous between stair flight landings Have no obstruction that would cause a break in the hand hold Have one rail fixed at a height not less than 865-mm	The North side path is required to serve as egress to the road from the lower ground floor dwelling. We recommend providing a compliant hand rail to the stairs within this pathway
Cl. D2.24	Protection of openable windows (a) A window opening must be provided with protection, if the floor below the window is 2 m or more above the surface beneath in— (i) a bedroom in a Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building; or	For reference This is not Fire safety matter however for due diligence we must identify that the current BCA requires restriction devices to first floor bedroom windows to prevent falls
	(ii) a Class 9b <u>early childhood centre</u>.(b) Where the lowest level of the window opening is less than 1.7 m above the floor, a window opening covered by (a) must comply with the following:	
	(i) The openable portion of the window must be protected with— (A)	
	a device capable of restricting the window opening; or (B) a screen with secure fittings.	
	(ii) A device or screen <u>required</u> by (i) must—	
	(A) not permit a 125 mm sphere to pass through the window opening or screen; and	
	(B) resist an outward horizontal action of 250 N against the—	

- (aa) window restrained by a device; or
- (bb) screen protecting the opening; and
- (C) have a child resistant release mechanism if the screen or device is able to be removed, unlocked or overridden.
- (c) A barrier with a height not less than 865 mm above the floor is <u>required</u> to an openable window—
 - (i) in addition to window protection, when a child resistant release mechanism is <u>required</u> by (b)(ii)(C); and
 - (ii) where the floor below the window is 4 m or more above the surface beneath if the window is not covered by (a).
- (d) A barrier covered by (c) must not—
 - (i) permit a 125 mm sphere to pass through it; and
 - (ii) have any horizontal or near horizontal elements between 150 mm and 760 mm above the floor that facilitate climbing.

4.5 SECTION E – SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT

CLAUSE	CLAUSE REQUIREMENT	ACTION/RECOMENDATION		
Cl. E1.6	Portable fire extinguishers	We recommend providing 1x 2.5kg Type		
	(a) Portable fire extinguishers must be—	ABE Portable Fire Extinguishers within each dwelling		
	(i) provided as listed in <u>Table E1.6</u> ; and			
	(ii) for a Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building, provided—			
	(A) to serve the whole Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building where one or more internal fire hydrants are installed; or			
	(B) where internal fire hydrants are not installed, to serve any <i>fire compartment</i> with a <i>floor area</i> greater than 500 m ² , and for the purposes of this clause, a <i>sole-occupancy unit</i> in a Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building is considered to be a <i>fire compartment</i> ; and			
	(iii) subject to (b), selected, located and distributed in accordance with Sections 1, 2, 3 and 4 of AS 2444.			
	(b) Portable fire extinguishers provided in a Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building must be—			
	(i) an ABE type fire extinguisher; and			
	(ii) a minimum size of 2.5 kg; and			
	(iii) distributed outside a sole-occupancy unit—			
	(A) to serve only the <u>storey</u> at which they are located; and			
	(B) so that the travel distance from the entrance doorway of any sole-occupancy unit to the nearest fire extinguisher is not more than 10 m.			
Cl. E2.2a	General requirements (a) A building must comply with (b), (c), (d) and—	We recommend providing hardwired AS 3786 smoke alarms with battery back up within each dwelling.		

- (i) <u>Table E2.2a</u> as applicable to Class 2 to 9 buildings such that each separate part complies with the relevant provisions for the classification; and
- (ii) <u>Table E2.2b</u> as applicable to Class 6 and 9b buildings such that each separate part complies with the relevant provisions for the classification.
- (b) An air-handling system which does not form part of a smoke hazard management system in accordance with <u>Table E2.2a</u> or <u>Table E2.2b</u> and which recycles air from one <u>fire compartment</u> to another <u>fire compartment</u> or operates in a manner that may unduly contribute to the spread of smoke from one <u>fire compartment</u> to another <u>fire compartment</u> must—
 - (i) be designed and installed to operate as a smoke control system in accordance with AS/NZS 1668.1; or

(ii)

- (A) incorporate smoke dampers where the air-handling ducts penetrate any elements separating the *fire compartments* served; and
- (B) be arranged such that the air-handling system is shut down and the smoke dampers are activated to close *automatically* by smoke detectors complying with clause 4.10 of AS/NZS 1668.1; and

for the purposes of this provision, each <u>sole-occupancy unit</u> in a Class 2 or 3 building is treated as a separate <u>fire compartment</u>.

- (c) Miscellaneous air-handling systems covered by Sections 5 and 11 of AS/NZS 1668.1 serving more than one *fire compartment* (other than a *carpark* ventilation system) and not forming part of a smoke hazard management system must comply with that Section of the Standard.
- (d) A smoke detection system must be installed in accordance with <u>Clause 5 of Specification E2.2a</u> to operate AS/NZS 1668.1 systems that are provided for zone smoke control and <u>automatic</u> air pressurisation for fire-isolated <u>exits</u>.

CLASS 2 AND 3 BUILDINGS AND CLASS 4 PART OF A BUILDING

A Class 2 and 3 building or part of a building and Class 4 part of a building must be provided

Note these should be provided within each level of the upper dwelling and interlinked within that dwelling

with an <u>automatic</u> smoke detection and alarm system complying with <u>Specification E2.2a</u> Class 6, 7b, 8 or 9b building (other than a <u>school</u>) or part of a building having a <u>rise in storeys</u> of more than 2 a zone smoke control system in accordance with AS/NZS 1668.1, if the building has more than one <u>fire compartment</u>; or an <u>automatic</u> smoke detection and alarm system complying with <u>Specification E2.2a</u>; or a sprinkler system complying with <u>Specification E1.5</u>

4.6 SECTION F – HEALTH AND AMENITY

CLAUSE	CLAUSE REQUIREMENT	ACTION/RECOMENDATION
Cl. F3.1	Height of rooms and other spaces The ceiling height must be not less than— (a) in a Class 2 or 3 building or Class 4 part of a building— (i) a kitchen, laundry, or the like — 2.1 m; and (ii) a corridor, passageway or the like — 2.1 m; and (iii) a habitable room excluding a kitchen — 2.4 m; and (iv) in a room or space with a sloping ceiling or projections below the ceiling line within— (A) a habitable room— (aa) in an attic — a height of not less than 2.2 m for not less than two-thirds of the floor area of the room or space; and (bb) in other rooms — a height of not less than 2.4 m for not less than two-thirds of the floor area of the room or space; and (B) a non- habitable room— a height of not less than 2.1 m for not less than two-thirds of the floor area of the room or space; and	Currently the ceiling heights comply however it is noted that some modification may be required to achieve the required sound attenuation requirements of Part F5, further commentary is provided below in this regard.
	when calculating the floor area of a room or space, any part that has a ceiling height of less than 1.5 m is not included	
Cl. F5.3	The floor of the residential units must have an impact sound insulation rating: having the required value for weighted normalised impact sound pressure level with spectrum adaptation term $(L_{n,w}+C_1)$ determined in accordance with AS/IOSO 717.2 using results from laboratory measurements; or	The Ground floor and Lower Ground floor are separated by a 180mm concrete slab with the first floor being provided in addition with a timber floor finish.

Cl. F5.4	□ complying with Specification F5 be discontinuous construction. The floors of the residential units nee L _{n,w} +C ₁ (impact) not more than 62. Table 3 Acceptable forms of construction for the co	It is noted that direct compliance with the BCA Specification F5 would reduce the ceiling height within the ground floor to below the requirements of Part F3. Our recommendation is to seek a report				
	Description	R w + C tr (not less than)	L _{n,w} (not more than)	R w (not less than)	Construction	from an Acoustic Engineer in regard to the Rw+Ctr and Lnw+C1 levels achieved by the current flooring and slab system
	Floor construction type: Concrete				www. and	
	 (a) 28 mm metal furring channels and isolation mounts fixed to underside of slab, at 600 mm centres; and (b) 65 mm thick polyester insulation with a density of 8 kg/m³, positioned between furring channels; and (c) one layer of 13 mm plasterboard fixed to furring channels. 	y channels and ed to underside of atres; and der insulation with a positioned between d	62	50		
	200 mm thick concrete slab with carpet on underlay.	50	62	50		
	100 mm thick concrete slab.	45	-	45		

Kieran Tobin Senior Consultant, Grad Dip Building Surveying UWS